Abilene Christian University
Digital Commons @ ACU

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

5-2021

Virtual Reality for Public Speaking Rehearsals: Student and Faculty Perceptions

Carrie A. Saltsman cas20a@acu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.acu.edu/etd

Part of the Communication Technology and New Media Commons, Curriculum and Instruction Commons, Higher Education Commons, and the Other Communication Commons

Recommended Citation

Saltsman, Carrie A., "Virtual Reality for Public Speaking Rehearsals: Student and Faculty Perceptions" (2021). Digital Commons @ ACU, *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 339.

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ ACU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ ACU.

ABSTRACT

Speeches and speech rehearsals are an important part of many basic communication courses. However, instructors are developing new ways for students to rehearse their speeches every day; one way may be for students to use virtual reality. Although virtual reality is somewhat of a new innovation, it is effective in various settings, including higher education, and more specifically, the speech classroom. However, this efficacy may not matter if students and instructors are unwilling to adopt it into the classroom. Diffusion of innovation theory, developed by Rogers (2003), focuses on how an innovation is diffused and adopted. Using two of the five attributes of an innovation (i.e., relative advantage and complexity), this thesis examines student and instructor perceptions of virtual reality. Results from the study showed that students and instructors perceived that complexity (i.e., ease of use) was significantly related to attitudes towards VR adoption. Results also showed that relative advantage was significantly related to VR adoption attitudes for students and instructors. Lastly, students and instructors had significantly different perceptions of ease of use but did not have significantly different perceptions of relative advantage.

Virtual Reality for Public Speaking Rehearsals: Student and Faculty Perceptions

A Thesis

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Communication and Sociology

Abilene Christian University

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts

By

Carrie A. Saltsman

May 2021

This thesis, directed and approved by the committee for the thesis candidate Carrie Saltsman, has been accepted by the Office of Graduate Programs of Abilene Christian University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Master of Arts in Communication

Assistant Provost for Graduate Programs

Date

4-19-2021

Thesis Committee

Withelas Taton

Dr. Nick Tatum, Chair

Dr. Joe Cardot

annan m

Dr. Lauren Lemley

To my family, Dr. George Saltsman, Kristen Saltsman, CT Kelly, Carol Kelly, and Abby Dog. They have been my support system and cheerleaders through this whole process.

Thank you for always being there for me, praying for me, and answering all of my questions. Thank you for believing in me and constantly encouraging me to be better. To Abby Dog for all the snuggles and unconditional love. This process would have been much more difficult without you all by my side, reminding me of my end goal. Thank you for all that you have done and all the support going forward. Your impact and constant support has not gone unnoticed. Thank you for all you have done in front of and behind the scenes, you are so appreciated.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my chair, Dr. Nick Tatum; he has constantly been encouraging me, helping me, and pushing me to be better and write more. Dr. Tatum created such a supportive environment for helping me set and achieve my goals. I would also like to thank and acknowledge my committee, Dr. Cardot and Dr. Lemley. Thank you for always being there for me to "pop in for a quick question" that was never actually a quick question. Your knowledge and support has been so impactful to me. I am so thankful to have had all three of you on my committee. To my fellow graduate students, thank you

for always supporting me, letting me complain, and encouraging me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	LIST OF TABLESiii
I.	INTRODUCTION1
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW
	Virtual Reality
	History of VR9
	Therapeutic Uses of VR10
	VR in the Classroom12
	VR in the Public Speaking Classroom14
	Diffusion of Innovation Theory15
	Attributes of an Innovation
	Hypotheses and Research Question27
	Chapter Summary
III.	METHOD
	Procedures
	Participants
	Instrumentation
	Ease of Use
	Relative Advantage
	Attitudes Toward Adoption
	Chapter Summary

IV.	RESULTS	34
	H1 Results	34
	H2 Results	35
	RQ1 Results	35
	Chapter Summary	
V.	DISCUSSION	37
	Summary of Results	37
	Diffusion of Innovation Theory Implications	
	Steps for VR Implementation	41
	Limitations	44
	Future Directions	46
	Conclusion	48
	REFERENCES	50
	APPENDIX A: IRB Approval Letter	65
	APPENDIX B: Solicitation Materials	66
	APPENDIX C: IRB Participant Consent	67
	APPENDIX D: IRB Survey Items	70

LIST OF TABLES

1. Correlation of student attitudes toward VR adoption	34
2. Correlation of instructor attitudes toward VR adoption	35
3. Independent samples <i>t</i> -test	36

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Virtual reality (VR) is a new but rapidly growing tool for educational use in higher education. Research thus far has demonstrated that VR holds promise as a tool to enhance learning (Lee et al., 2017) and specifically to enhance efficacy within the Human Communication classroom (Frisby et al., 2020). If widely adopted, VR may one day be as ubiquitous in public speaking rehearsals as video recording devices are today (Frisby et al., 2020). However, the diffusion of innovation theory proposes if there are negative perceptions of an innovation, that innovation is not likely to be widely adopted, regardless of its utility (Rogers, 2003). Therefore, understanding student and instructor perceptions of VR for public speaking rehearsal provide valuable insight into its potential adoption for educational usage and what adaptations may be needed to advance adoption. Thus far, the perceptions of student use of VR for public speaking rehearsals are limited to only one study (Vallade et al., 2020), and no study on instructor perceptions on the use of VR for public speaking rehearsals appears to exist.

This introduction chapter includes a brief overview of the basic communication course as part of the Human Communication discipline, the past and present use of technology in the basic communication course, a description of VR as an emerging technology, potential uses of VR in higher education, and the basic communication course, the context of the COVID-19 pandemic on instructors use of technology in higher education and diffusion of innovation theory. While some elements of this introduction,

such as VR and diffusion of innovation theory, will be discussed in greater detail in the literature review, it is important to understand the context and relevance before reviewing past studies.

An introductory course on the fundamentals of public speaking and Human Communication, often referred to in the literature as the *basic communication course*, is a foundational course within higher education institutions (Morreale et al., 2016). Many basic Human Communication courses focus on public speaking alone; however, some basic courses consist of a blended curriculum which includes "interpersonal, small group, and/or public speaking contexts all in one course" (Morreale et al., 2016, p. 341). The basic communication course continues to hold its value partly due to the desire to have employees who can effectively communicate in the workplace (Morreale et al., 2016). The basic communication course's beginnings are traceable to Plato, Aristotle, and the Roman Empire (Valenzano et al., 2014). However, the basic communication course looks very different today than when it first started and may continue to change in the future (Valenzano et al., 2014).

Many of the topics covered in a contemporary basic communication course focus on the "communication process, ethical communication (includes plagiarism), public speaking, critical thinking, listening, communication confidence," and a wide variety of other topics (Morreale et al., 2016, p. 347). While the basic communication course may seem elementary, it can be an excellent building block for students, instructors, and researchers to serve "as a laboratory for new instructional practices, and as one of the primary locales for the study of instructional communication" (Valenzano et al., 2014). One feature of the basic communication course that makes it appropriate as a focus of

research for this study is the ability to integrate new changes and techniques, including technology.

The integration of technology use for public speaking rehearsal in the basic communication course has changed over time with the introduction of new technologies (Elmer, 2007). The basic communication course has often adopted new technology, and a high level of importance has been placed on technology, even historically (Muchmore & White, 1976). Previous examples of technology adoption in the basic communication course included audio recording technologies such as reel-to-reel tapes, cassette tapes, and now digital media; video recording technologies, such as film, video cassette recorders (VCRs) and digital video capture devices; and presentation technologies such as paper-based charts, slides, and now digital video projection and computer displays (Elmer, 2007).

These historical, technological interventions in the basic communication course have led to increased academic gains. For example, one technique that was innovative at its time of initial use was interactive video (Cronin & Kennan, 1994). Instructors could record lessons, and students could interact with the video and respond (Cronin & Kennan, 1994). Interactive videos have been used in public speaking courses to help reduce speaking anxiety, outline writing, create better introductions, and improve listening skills (Cronin & Kennan, 1994). Implementing audiotaped lectures became another technological communication used in the basic course (Mino & Butler, 1995). Additionally, instructors have often used new technologies such as computer-mediated communication for out-of-class assignments or group activities (Phillips & Santoro,

1989). While some of the technology used historically is still being used today, there are new ways to use it and new technologies to integrate.

More recently, instructional technology usage in a basic communication course often includes watching pre-recorded speeches via video for peer evaluation, as well as in-classroom filming of speeches for self-evaluations. Many instructors utilize video recordings for student self-evaluations to help students target areas to improve and recognize strengths (LeFebvre & LeFebvre, 2018; Opt, 2012). Instructors also often use video formats to present information and lectures to students (Morreale et al., 2016; Pecot-Hebert, 2012). Another form of technology use is video feedback. This feedback from instructors provides students a way to watch the video performance of their speech; this resulted in increased speech skills from the students (Russell, 1993). Other video techniques can include students using mobile phones for classroom activities (Frisby, 2017; Ober et al., 2020). Students can use mobile phones to record their speech rehearsals and work with other classmates to watch and evaluate personal speeches using their mobile phones (Frisby, 2017).

The basic communication course can also increase media literacy and use technology to enhance media literacy (Cramer, 2015). An educational objective of many basic communication courses is for students to develop their critical thinking skills, such as increased media literacy (Cramer, 2015). An understanding of digital media use is also becoming increasingly important with the increase in technology (Cramer, 2015). Technology and digital communication skills are an important part of the basic course and can help prepare students for their careers (Edwards, 2021). Instructors may also

create assignments for students to use social media and make posts on various social media platforms (Frisby, 2017).

Integrating instructional technology will continue to be critical to the advancement of the basic communication course (Elmer, 2007). As technology use has increased in higher education and in the basic communication course classroom, "the role of basic communication instructors in embracing and capitalizing on these changes to engage students and better position the basic communication course, becomes critical" (Frisby, 2017, p. 79). One emerging technology basic communication course instructors may find of value in engaging students is with VR, especially for use in student public speaking rehearsals.

VR is an immersive technology accessed through mediums such as head-mounted displays and simulators. VR is proliferating in popularity globally, with an estimated 26 million headsets owned worldwide (Osterland, 2020). The VR industry growth has the potential to reach 21.6% from 2020 to 2027 (Grand View Research, 2020). Current events such as the COVID-19 pandemic may further increase the use of VR for educational and entertainment purposes (Osterland, 2020).

Potentially, VR may be a valuable innovation for use in public speaking rehearsals. For example, previous studies have demonstrated efficacy for student public speaking rehearsals, such as using VR for speech rehearsals has been shown to improve student grades in public speaking (Lee et al., 2020). VR can also elicit a powerful emotional response, and students may react differently based on virtual audience reactions (Mabrook & Singer, 2019; Pertaub et al., 2002; Slater et al., 1999). VR also

demonstrated that it increased students' self-efficacy in public speaking (Frisby et al., 2020).

However, without comprehension of how instructors and students view VR and whether they wish to adopt it, this tool's effectiveness holds little value (Vallade et al., 2020). Understanding students' and instructors' perspectives may provide a more wellrounded assessment of VR's place for public speaking rehearsals. If one or both groups express negative perceptions of VR, this would likely hinder the adoption rate for public speaking rehearsals. If students or instructors are unwilling to use VR or view it unfavorably, it will be challenging to integrate it into the classroom.

Any current discussion of potential adoption of technology in education must consider the arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic. The interruption of "traditional" instruction has dramatically increased the amount of technology used across almost all disciplines at all institutions (Klein & Liang, 2020; O'Brien, 2020). Heavy use of technology is anticipated to continue even after the pandemic is over (How Technology Can Help Higher Education, 2021). The increase in technology usage during the pandemic, however, has not come without its challenges (Klein & Liang, 2020; O'Brien, 2020). Now more than ever, instructors are using technology in their daily lives (McDaniel et al., 2020), but their experiences may not have always been positive (Lederman, 2020). Despite these challenges, "many rose to the occasion and reported positive experiences" (McDaniel et al., 2020).

Diffusion of innovation theory is an appropriate lens for studying student and instructor perceptions of instructional technology (Stark, 2018; Warford, 2017). Diffusion of innovation theory focuses on the decision process of adopting an innovation, like VR,

among a population (Rogers, 2003). This theory also provides insight into what makes their potential adoption successful or unsuccessful (Rogers, 2003). Therefore, given that instructors and students are just now beginning to explore the adoption of VR for public speaking rehearsals, Rogers' theory provides an appropriate theoretical framework for identifying what perspectives might lead instructors or students to employ VR for this purpose.

Using the attributes of diffusion of innovation theory may also help predict what technological affordances may make VR successful or unsuccessful as a tool for public speaking rehearsals. For example, Vallade et al. (2020) analyzed student perceptions of VR for public speaking rehearsals. However, this researcher located no studies involving instructor perceptions during the review of literature. Thus, further research is necessary to better understand student perceptions and explore instructor perceptions of VR through the lens of diffusion of innovation theory.

This introduction provided an overview of the basic communication course as part of the Human Communication discipline, the past and present use of technology in the basic communication course, a description of VR as an emerging technology, potential uses of VR in the basic communication course, the context of the COVID-19 pandemic on instructors use of technology in higher education, and an introduction to the diffusion of innovation theory. This thesis continues with a discussion of the literature, the hypotheses and research question, methods used, results of the study, and a discussion of the findings conclude this thesis.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

This review of literature explores the definition of virtual reality (VR), VR in the classroom, an exploration of the diffusion of innovation theory, the attributes of an innovation, as well as specifying the hypotheses and research question for this study. The following paragraphs overview current therapeutic uses of VR, uses in K-12, uses in higher education, and uses explicitly in public speaking. Most applicable to this study is the literature review regarding student perceptions of VR for public speaking rehearsals. However, during this review, no study was located which focused on instructors' perceptions of the uses of VR for public speaking rehearsals. The literature review continues by providing an overview of the theoretical framework used. This portion of the literature review also includes diffusion of innovation theory's elements, specifically focusing on the attributes of an innovation and existing research using diffusion of innovation theory. This review ends with the study hypotheses and a research question regarding student and instructor perceptions of VR.

Virtual Reality

This section of the literature review explores what VR is, the history of VR, the therapeutic uses of VR, the use of VR in the classroom, and the use of VR in the public speaking classroom. VR is an immersive, sensory technology accessed through head-mounted displays, simulators (e.g., flight or medical simulators), bodysuits, immersive screens, or some combination of the above (Lee et al., 2017; Makransky & Lilleholt,

2018; Merchant et al., 2014). VR provides an immersive environment in which a person can directly interact with an information technology system (Lee & Wong 2014; Makransky & Lilleholt, 2018). As an immersive technology within a simulated environment, VR offers great promise for education (Valenti et al., 2020). For example, students in a public speaking rehearsal setting could wear a VR headset displaying an animated audience that simulates a public speaking scenario while sensors within the VR equipment record biometric data from the user, such as eye contact or speaking rate (Farley et al., 2020).

History of VR

The earliest VR concepts began in the 1950s, with popularity increasing quickly during the 1990s as technology reached the ability to simulate VR more affordably (Merchant et al., 2014). One of the first VR-like creations was the Sensorama machine, created in 1957, which was described by authors as "an arcade-style theatre cabinet which featured stereo speakers, a stereoscopic 3D display, fans, smell generators, and a vibrating chair" (Correia Loureiro et al., 2020, p. 2). While this device was not interactive, it had features resembling modern VR environments (Mandal, 2013). After the development of the Sensorama, VR continued to push the boundaries of capabilities throughout the following decades, including creating the first head-mounted display in 1965 by Ivan Sutherland (Correia Loureiro et al., 2020; Mandal, 2013). Developments continued to progress and become more accurate and complex as technology developed. The term "virtual reality" was not coined until the late 1980s by Jaron Lanier (Correia Loureiro et al., 2020).

Once more advanced technological capacity became available in the 1990s, VR developments began expanding more rapidly (Merchant et al., 2014). One example of these developments was CAVE (CAVE Automatic Virtual Environment); researchers projected images onto the walls of a room, and users wore LCD shutter glasses, allowing them to explore in an entire room (Mandal, 2013). Later, VR continued developing with the introduction of virtual world applications, such as SecondLife, more advanced head-mounted displays, such as the Oculus, and rapid developments in gaming and immersion techniques, such as 360-degree VR treadmills (Correia Loureiro et al., 2020).

A review of the history of VR cannot ignore the increasing influence the gaming world has on advancing VR and other similar technology like augmented reality (AR). Many VR/AR advancements have been due to the gaming industry, with a projected \$92.31 billion market size by 2027 (Grand View Research, 2020). While there have been many VR developments in hardware and software, there are still areas for improvement, such as motion sickness reduction and eye fatigue (Correia Loureiro et al., 2020; Mandal, 2013). With additional innovations and advances, VR is becoming more affordable and immersive over time (Farley et al., 2020).

Therapeutic Uses of VR

Understanding the therapeutic uses of VR can inform the use of VR in public speaking contexts and thus warrants review. Documented uses of therapeutic VR have included the fear of public speaking, which demonstrated reduced anxiety and phobia symptoms (Parsons & Rizzo, 2008). Reducing speech anxiety symptoms was evident in VR speech rehearsals (Menzel & Carrell, 1994). Speech rehearsals and the amount of time rehearsing speeches are related to speech delivery (Menzel & Carrell, 1994). While

it is important to practice speeches, differences in the location of the practice may affect outcomes (Menzel & Carrell, 1994). Speeches practiced in areas more similar to the presentation location are more likely to be successful (Delivering Your Speech, n. d.). While practicing the speeches where presented can be extremely helpful, it may not always be feasible. However, VR can allow students to practice their speech in a virtual environment similar to the setting where they will present (Frisby et al., 2020). Using VR as a therapeutic tool may be able to assist in speech rehearsals. There are two main types of VR therapy identified in the literature being used today: cognitive-behavioral therapy and virtual reality exposure therapy.

Cognitive-behavioral therapy, best conceptualized as "a common type of talk therapy . . . cognitive-behavioral therapy helps you become aware of inaccurate or negative thinking so you can view challenging situations more clearly and respond to them in a more effective way" (Mayo Clinic, n.d.). Early studies looked at the possibility of combining VR and cognitive-behavioral therapy (Lister et al., 2010). Once it was determined VR and cognitive-behavioral therapy worked well together, researchers like Safir et al. (2012) and Anderson et al. (2005) looked at their effectiveness. Their studies indicated VR effectively treated fear of public speaking. While VR may reduce public speaking fear, enrollment in a basic communication course may also have the same effect (Rubin et al., 1997). Therefore, using VR in a basic course may help reduce the fear of public speaking in multiple ways.

Virtual reality exposure therapy describes being "immersed in a VE [virtual environment], they can be systematically exposed to specific feared stimuli within a contextually relevant setting" (Parsons & Rizzo, 2008, p. 251). Virtual reality exposure

therapy has become more widely popularized as the technology required to operate a therapy session successfully is more affordable, easy to use, and readily available (Parsons & Rizzo, 2008). Virtual reality exposure therapy works on people with and without diagnosed anxiety disorders; it also can result in an increased reduction in those with higher levels of anxiety (Stupar-Rutenfrans et al., 2017). The majority of virtual reality exposure therapy was conducted on adult participants, with a notable subset of college-age participants (Cornwell et al., 2005; Harris et al., 2002; Scheveneels et al., 2019; Stupar-Rutenfrans et al., 2017). While the research conducted on children is limited, the results are consistent with adult findings (Kahlon et al., 2019). Researchers have found similar results using systematic desensitization, as another technique applicable in the basic course in tandem with VR (Hopf & Ayres, 1992).

VR in the Classroom

While the public perception of VR may be that of an entertainment device, its use and popularity as an educational tool are well recognized. Many examples of academic studies using VR utilize a head-mounted display. Head-mounted displays fit over the head with the viewing lenses centered over the eyes. These affordable VR headsets used in education can range in size, ease of use, and price (\$10 – \$500+). One example of a highly affordable head-mounted display is Google Cardboard which, as its name suggests, is a foldable piece of cardboard in which a smartphone can be inserted and is used casually in college classrooms (Lee et al., 2017). However, higher-end and more complex headsets have built-in 4K displays with stereo sound and embedded sensors to measure movement, often utilized in research laboratories (Radianti et al., 2020). When determining the correct type of VR hardware, it is essential to consider the application

and desired outcome (e.g., public speaking rehearsals). Other VR applications in education have uses within the classroom, such as vocational training, K-12, and higher education. A key theme of VR in education is helping students develop 21st-century skills (Maas & Hughes, 2020; Papanastasiou et al., 2019).

Studies on the use of VR in the K-12 classroom are limited and focus on critical thinking skills, student participation, and creativity (Maas & Hughes, 2020; Merchant et al., 2014; Papanastasiou et al., 2019). Despite limited research on VR in K-12, some have suggested it has the potential to be "an effective tool to enhance learning and memory as they provide immersed multimodal environments enriched by multiple sensory features" (Papanastasiou et al., 2019, p. 434). Therefore, if this advancement in K-12 does take place, these students have the potential to be more familiar with and have prior experience with VR when advancing to the higher education classroom, thus providing a more seamless transition.

While the potential of VR as a learning tool in K-12 may be promising, the focus of this thesis study and thus this literature review is within higher education. Existing research on VR in higher education settings spans multiple disciplines. An application-based experience allowed nursing students to work through potential problems without potentially injuring a patient (Rim & Shin, 2021). VR has also been used to train future teachers by creating a 3D learning environment, allowing them to work through problems and interact with their peers (Nissim & Weissblueth, 2017). Nissim and Weissblueth (2017) found future teachers developed creative and critical thinking skills, had a better grasp of technology, and developed creativity in teaching, among other outcomes. Overall, both Rim and Shin (2021) and Nissim and Weissblueth (2017) documented how

VR allows higher education students to explore and advance their skills in a low-risk setting. Further, Lee et al. (2017) propose that VR may also have "the potential to make learning more enjoyable by allowing students to translate their personal experiences, emotions, and memories to the virtual environment" (p. 157).

Going further, Lee et al. (2017) studied the novelty, interest, reliability, understandability, and usage enjoyment of content delivered via VR. According to Lee et al. (2017), participants in this study were placed in either an immersive VR environment or flat-screen control group and viewed the same informational video about mountain climbing in Nepal. Users in the VR groups reported significant increases in interest and enjoyment levels (Lee et al., 2017). This increase in interest and enjoyment indicates students found VR enjoyable, and Lee et al. (2017) propose the VR intervention may lead to more engaged learning.

VR in the Public Speaking Classroom

Researchers have studied the use of VR within the discipline of Human Communication and public speaking courses. One of the earliest studies on using VR in public speaking focused on positive or negative audience reactions (Slater et al., 1999). The results from this study inspired other researchers to study the use of VR in public speaking rehearsals. Pertaub et al. (2002) also looked at positive and negative audience reactions; however, these reactions are not only limited to the virtual audience but can impact the user as well. Mabrook and Singer (2019) discuss how immersion with 360degree video can elicit a powerful emotional response within the user. Some of the elements in public speaking rehearsals that can impact this type of emotional response have to deal with the virtual environment's realism (Felnhofer et al., 2014). Additionally,

using VR to practice public speaking has been shown to lead to higher grades (Lee et al., 2020). Teaching real-world life skills and application is often an objective of public speaking courses, and two studies suggest skills acquired while using VR appear to transfer to the real world (Frisby et al., 2020; Palmas et al., 2019).

Furthermore, using VR as a practice tool may increase students' self-efficacy (Frisby et al., 2020). Most applicable to this study, Vallade et al. (2020) analyzed students perceived usefulness of VR for public speaking rehearsals. Vallade et al. revealed students did have positive experiences and viewed VR as helpful for speech rehearsals. However, this study only researched students' perspectives and did not include instructors in the study. Because instructors are most likely to implement VRbased public speaking rehearsals, it is critical to consider their perspectives as well. However, this review of literature did not discover existing research focusing on instructor perspectives of VR.

Diffusion of Innovation Theory

This portion of this literature review will detail how diffusion of innovation theory started, current applications, similar models, its elements, and the hypotheses and research question. Diffusion of innovation theory was first created in 1903 by Gabriel Tarde, but it became popularized and further developed in 1971 by Everett Rogers (Sartipi, 2020). Although Rogers passed in the early 2000s (Obituary Everett Rogers, 2005), his work still holds essential value in communication and innovation studies today. Diffusion of innovation theory focuses on how innovations are dispersed and adopted into society (Rogers, 2003). Diffusion is defined as "the process in which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time among the members of a

social system" (Rogers, 2003, p. 5). Rogers defined the activity of deciding to adopt or reject an innovation as the innovation-decision process. This process may seem like it is void of interaction, but at its core, diffusion of innovation is a communication process (Singhal, 2009).

Throughout the years, the examples of and application of diffusion of innovation theory have changed. In earlier versions of Rogers' (1962) *Diffusion of Innovations*, he uses examples of farmers in Iowa. However, in his book's later editions, he includes more current references, such as various technologies developed in the late 1990s (Rogers, 2003). The fifth and most recent edition included many examples of the internet and how it changed the diffusion process (McGrath & Zell, 2001).

Diffusion of innovation theory applies to various industries such as government and economics, technology, and education (Perilla Jimenez, 2020; Reddick et al., 2019; Vollink et al., 2002). In an analysis of blockchain distribution in the public sector, Reddick et al. (2019) used diffusion of innovation theory to analyze multiple nations' use and distribution. Blockchain technologies are being adopted and are proven to be beneficial for governments (Reddick et al., 2019). Another example of diffusion of innovation theory is to predict the intention to engage in energy conservation interventions (Vollink et al., 2002). Perilla Jiménez's (2020) research focuses on the rate of economic growth and development through the lens of diffusion of innovation theory. Frequently used to study technology and technological advancements; one example is the adoption of banking apps in Saudi Arabia (Al-Jabri & Sohail, 2012). These examples of government and economic analyses of diffusion of innovation theory show positive results and positive progress towards adopting these innovations (Perilla Jimenez, 2020; Reddick et al., 2019; Vollink et al., 2002). However, this adoption is most likely slow and will take longer than more commercial and profitable innovations (McGrath & Zell, 2001).

Technological contexts are another area where diffusion of innovation theory is observable. One application of the diffusion of innovation theory can be visible in smartphone applications such as Twitter and Uber. Twitter users can hashtag messages with the *#* symbol; hashtags group similar tweets, and users can view other tweets tagged with the same messages and engage with other users (Chang, 2010). Chang's (2010) article follows the lifecycle of a hashtag and how specific hashtags become trending. Min et al. (2019) used diffusion of innovation theory to focus on the perceived usefulness and ease of use of the popular ride-share app, Uber. This study's findings indicate that when both perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use are high, consumers are more willing to adopt an innovation, in this case, Uber (Min et al., 2019). While these results are focusing on a ride-share app, these positive results indicate these two factors are critical to the adoption of an innovation. Both of these applications are popular and can be good examples of how non-physical technological applications spread.

There are other examples of more conceptual technologies like green information technology or technology companies that place a high level of importance on corporate social responsibility (Thomas et al., 2016). Green information technology companies can focus on clean energy, carbon offset, sustainable material acquisition, social and environmental integrity (Thomas et al., 2016). If companies understand users are switching to companies offering these initiatives and who adopt these green practices, they stand to gain more users in the long run (Thomas et al., 2016). In examples such as

green information technology, it is easy to see how consumer power and desire can inform company behavior. Diffusion of innovation theory applies to many different concepts and industries, not limited to the research detailed above.

Information and communication technologies are recent technological advances that are changing education. E-learning or web-based education are two examples of information and communication technologies examined using the diffusion of innovation theory (Goh & Sigala, 2020; Ntemma & Olatokun, 2012). The use of diffusion of innovation theory can also be visible in the implications of universally designed college instruction (Scott & McGuire, 2017) and the adoption of geospatial technologies for classroom use (Curtis, 2020). Diffusion of innovation theory in education applies to various courses and areas of study (Curtis, 2020; Scott & McGuire, 2017).

While diffusion of innovation is the primary theory presented in this study, it is critical to acknowledge similar models and concepts, specifically the Bass model, technology acceptance model, and the Gartner Hype Cycle. One similar model to the diffusion of innovation theory is the Bass (1969) model, which explains the number of adopters is almost identical to sales numbers (Chang, 2010). However, unlike the Bass model, diffusion of innovation theory "serves as a comprehensive framework for understanding diffusion process of an innovation and its underlying factors driving the diffusion" (Chang, 2010, p. 2). The technology acceptance model is also widely used when discussing an individual's acceptance of information technology (Min et al., 2019; Moore & Benbasat, 1991). Despite the technology acceptance model including similar features to diffusion of innovation theory, "it has been criticized for not fully reflecting the nature of consumer adoption" (Min et al., 2019). The Gartner Hype Cycle is another

similar model that follows how technological innovations are adopted in a bell curve-like shape characterized by the trough of disillusionment (Lajoie & Bridges, 2014). However, diffusion of innovation is more specific regarding an innovation's characteristics (Min et al., 2019). The author of this thesis selected diffusion of innovation theory due to its specificity over the technology acceptance model over the Gartner Hype Cycle.

Understanding the value that an innovation perceived by users can help explain why it is being adopted or rejected. One quote that gives weight to the value of innovations is "with each further adopter it becomes more valuable, not just to all future adopters, but to all past adopters as well (McGrath & Zell, 2001, p. 389). If students and instructors begin adopting VR, it should become more valuable to past, present, and future users as adoption increases. This increase in adoption may encourage VR companies to create more advanced versions, which further assist in pushing VR through the innovation adoption process.

Rogers (2003) suggests with the introduction of an innovation, the innovation goes through a multifaceted process as it is adopted called the innovation-decision process. The innovation-decision process consists of five stages: knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and conformation (Rogers, 2003). A description of each of the five follows.

In the *knowledge stage*, potential adopters learn an innovation exists, how it works, and why it works (Scott & McGuire, 2017). During the knowledge stage, an innovation's proponents must get the message to potential adopters to provide awareness. Companies frequently advance through the knowledge stage by repeating a standard message (Sartipi, 2020). Therefore, it follows that repeating a standard message of VR's

usefulness as an academic tool will likewise drive VR adoption in higher education. For example, students or instructors who may be familiar with VR in video games but not for speech rehearsals will thus need to see and experience VR public speaking settings. During the *persuasion stage*, the potential adopter forms a favorable or unfavorable opinion about the innovation, which ultimately leads to adopting or rejecting the innovation (Rogers, 2003). As an emerging technology, instructors and students are forming their opinions of VR more broadly, and these opinions will be critical to the implementation and future adoption of VR as an academic tool. In this stage, positive perceptions of VR can be helpful as students and instructors may be more willing to try something they have seen positively in the past. The *decision stage* happens when the user decides to adopt the innovation. Early in this stage, users may conduct a cost/benefit analysis to further research and determine its potential value (Sartipi, 2020). In education, the cost/benefit analysis would likely be performed by potential adopters using the metrics of time to implement versus the potential for positive academic outcomes. Again, positive perceptions and positive research results of VR for public speaking rehearsals are likely to boost the potential for positive outcomes.

The *implementation stage* starts when the user begins using the innovation for the first time. Good user support is critical in this phase, as difficulty during first-time use can lead to discontinuance (Sartipi, 2020). In the context of public speaking rehearsals, a departmental chair or dean would likely decide on adoption, and faculty would follow through with implementation. Support could come from the institution's information technology department or specially trained students or faculty within the department. Lastly, the *confirmation stage* occurs, defined as when an individual decides to keep

using the innovation or abandon it (Scott & McGuire, 2017). Positive results from a high percentage of individuals and institutions will likely lead to the continuance of VR for public speaking rehearsals and may expand to other applications in other disciplines.

The time this five-stage process takes can vary from individual and innovation (Rogers, 2003). Some innovations move through more quickly than others. In an interview with McGrath and Zell (2001), Rogers noted that commercial innovations are more likely to be rapidly adopted, whereas medical or nonprofit innovations tend to diffuse more slowly. Higher education, being more similar to medical and nonprofit, will likely take longer to reach the confirmation stage than gaming or other more commercial VR uses.

Adoption is visualized on a bell curve where potential users are stratified into five different categories (Rogers, 2003). According to Rogers, the first group, *innovators*, are risk-takers and the first to adopt an innovation. These risk-takers will try an innovation even though no one else has; they are willing to accept uncertainty and setbacks while adopting an innovation (Goh & Sigala, 2020). Rogers defined the second group, *early adopters*, as those who wait for significant problems to be resolved by the innovators but are still willing to accept some uncertainty. Early adopters are also seen by peers as opinion leaders (Rogers, 2003). Having opinion leaders give positive feedback to potential VR adopters is vital for reaching subsequent phases of adoption. The third and fourth groups are the *early and late majority*, who adopt as innovations hit the "mainstream" or "critical mass" (Rogers, 2003; Sartipi, 2020). Typically, these two groups wait for the resolution of most, if not all, significant issues and uncertainty. Lastly are the *laggards* who resist innovations or postpone until adoption is absolutely necessary

(Rogers, 2003). Laggards often believe "personal resources are scarce, and they want to be absolute certain the adopted innovation will definitely work" (Goh & Sigala, 2020, p. 162).

As the innovations move through the adoption cycle, various groups are in different parts of the innovation-decision process (Rogers, 2003). Innovators and early adopters who have already advanced to the usage stage become opinion leaders for the early majority and late majority (Goh & Sigala, 2020; Rogers, 2003). Having these opinion leaders as advocates of an innovation is critical to the continued adoption of innovation. Given that VR for public speaking rehearsals is not yet a widely adopted innovation, it most likely exists on the early half of the adoption curve, where advocacy from innovators and early adopters becomes important for sustained adoption. While it can be hard to predict precisely where VR for public speaking rehearsals is on the adoption curve, the appearance of examples of early adoption in academic research provides evidence that innovators and early adopters have begun the experimentation process, and their published results will begin to offer insight into the progress toward large-scale adoption or indifference (Frisby et al., 2020; Vallade et al., 2020).

While VR as a technology has been around for decades, it has not yet reached mainstream use; therefore, some authors argue that the COVID-19 pandemic may jumpstart VR adoption due to many people staying home and experimenting with technology (Osterland, 2020). Still, with the potential of increased experimentation, adoption is not guaranteed. VR has historically faced barriers in adoption, such as high costs, poor marketing, motion sickness, and ergonomic challenges (Mandal, 2013; Osterland, 2020). While these barriers have not hindered early innovators, it must be noted that VR has not

yet reached the early majority adoption group. However, if the market continues to grow as barriers are reduced, the adoption of the early majority would be on the near horizon (Grand View Research, 2020). As the COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated, mainstream technology adoption within higher education has become a key topic for discussion (Prentiss, 2021).

Attributes of an Innovation

As innovations are being adopted, an innovation's attributes become indicators of an innovation's success or failure. These five attributes are defined as *compatibility*, *trialability*, *observability*, *complexity*, and *relative advantage* (Rogers, 2003). Rogers (2003) suggests there is a "49 to 87 percent variance in the adoption rate" from these attributes, meaning they contribute to a large portion of determining if an innovation will be adopted (p. 221). The following paragraphs discuss each of these attributes and how they relate to VR adoption in public speaking.

Compatibility is defined as "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as consistent with the existing values, past experiences, and needs of potential adopters" (Rogers, 2003, p. 240). The attribute of compatibility within VR in education could be how it fits into the plans and style of potential student or faculty adopters. For example, if an institution has a communication center, allowing VR use for rehearsals may be compatible with their current processes. Compatibility explains how users' past experiences will inform their future adoptions, and it must include their lifestyle choices (Min et al., 2019). Part of successful compatible with their lifestyle, which creates some complexity. This attribute was not included because students and instructors may not

know how VR would be compatible in their classrooms, and students and instructors would likely think about compatibility very differently. Instructors would likely be considering how to implement VR whereas students would just think about how to use VR. It can also be hard to determine if an innovation is compatible without the following attribute.

Next is *trialability*, or "the degree to which an innovation may be experimented with on a limited basis" (Rogers, 2003, p. 258). Trialability allows potential adopters to find ways to give meaning to innovations on their terms. Participating in VR trials before a sizeable financial commitment may help students and instructors be convinced of its value and compatibility. Studies in the past have included VR trials for public speaking rehearsals (Frisby et al., 2020; Vallade et al., 2020). Goh and Sigala (2020) suggest giving more opportunities to use new technology will help instructors be more comfortable with adoption. However, due to time, budgetary, and social distancing limitations, trialability could not be tested within the present study.

Observability is "the degree to which the results of an innovation are visible to others" (Rogers, 2003, p. 258). Some innovations are more observable than others; however, the theme of more easily observable innovations being adopted more easily remains consistent (Rogers, 2003). In the context of VR, if students observe positive results such as an increase in grades, satisfaction, or enjoyment in others, they may be more likely to use VR in their studies (Goh & Sigala, 2020). Similarly, if instructors see success using VR in other instructors' classrooms, they may be more inclined to prescribe its use in their courses. Similar to trialability, the logistics of testing observability were not possible due to time and budget restraints. Additionally, student participants may feel

self-conscious or embarrassed to have other students watch them use VR. This may create a negative experience and lead to future resistance to using VR or new technology. While the first three attributes are important to adopt an innovation, the remaining two appear more critical to the success of adopting VR in public speaking rehearsals: complexity and relative advantage.

Complexity (also known as "ease of use") is "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as relatively difficult to understand and use (Rogers, 2003, p. 257). Similar to the other attributes, if innovations are perceived as too complex, their adoption rate will be negatively affected. Rogers (2003) used the example of home computers to explain this attribute. When first created, computers required a complex set-up process, and salespeople used large amounts of jargon while trying to sell the devices, which negatively affected their adoption. VR could be seen as complex because of the setup required and because it is a relatively new technology with unfamiliar attributes. If it is easy to use, it will more likely be adopted, but if it is difficult to use, it is less likely to be adopted (Ntemma & Olatokun, 2012). Therefore, if students and instructors have little difficulty while setting up and using VR for public speaking rehearsals, they may be more likely to adopt it. If VR is viewed as too complex to use for public speaking rehearsals, students and instructors may completely reject the innovation leaving the previous attributes with little influence to bring users back. It is also believed to have a significant impact on innovation adoption rates.

Relative advantage is defined as "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as being better than the idea it supersedes" (Rogers, 2003, p. 229). Rogers (2003) states that relative advantage is the greatest predictor of innovation adoption and success. There

are several different sub-categories of relative advantage that provide more context to the innovation and why it may be successful or not: economic factors (e.g., cost), status aspects (e.g., whether it is a well-recognized brand), over adoption (e.g., an expert thinking an innovation should not be adopted), rate of adoption (e.g., how quickly it is being adopted), preventive innovations (e.g., seat belts to limit injuries), effects of incentives (e.g., subsidies or rebates for adopting), and mandates for adoption (e.g., vehicles with low pollution levels) (Rogers, 2003). Rogers emphasizes how diffusion of innovation is an uncertainty reduction process, and potential adopters want to know how an innovation is better than the current innovation (Rogers, 2003). Having relative advantage will be extremely important for VR to be adopted. Consumers determine the value and relative advantage of innovations by comparing them to a previous innovation or technology (Min et al., 2019). Within education, a similar determination is performed. If VR is not determined as better than existing interventions, instructors and students will not see the value in adopting it. Relative advantage was selected as the final attribute in this study because of its significance in the innovation adoption process. If innovations are not perceived as having relative advantage, they will be less likely to be adopted than innovations that do.

Relative advantage and complexity were both selected for this thesis because they are highly critical to the success of an innovation being adopted. Although Rogers (2003) defines the term as *complexity*, Moore and Benbasat (1991) define the term as *ease of use*, which is adopted for this study. These two attributes also appear to be the most likely to be directly related to adoption. Rogers (2003) even discusses how relative advantage is the greatest predictor for success. While trialability, observability, and compatibility are

important to an innovation being adopted, relative advantage and ease of use have continually been predictors of an innovation's success (Ntemma & Olatokun, 2012). Because trialability, observability, and compatibility are reliant on having to touch and use the innovation itself, it could be potentially costly to test these, and if initial perceptions of VR are negative, testing these could waste valuable resources. This is another reason why relative advantage and complexity were selected for the present study. Early success with these two attributes can lead to success for later studies measuring the other three attributes. If relative advantage and complexity are tested first and have positive perceptions, this could lead to the purchase of VR to later study the other attributes; however, if there are negative initial perceptions, significant time and money could be saved.

Hypotheses and Research Question

Taken together, little is known about the perceptions of VR, especially among instructors. By continuing the research of Vallade et al. (2020) and studying both student and instructor attitudes, a greater understanding of VR and its adoption is gained. Perceived relative advantage and ease of use of VR equipment appear to be likely predictors in the context of public speaking rehearsals. Thus, the following hypotheses are posed:

H1: For students, attitudes toward VR adoption for student public speaking rehearsals will be associated with perceptions of (a) ease of use and (b) relative advantage.

H2: For instructors, attitudes toward VR adoption for student public speaking rehearsals will be associated with perceptions of (a) ease of use and (b) relative advantage.

While the attributes of an innovation can help predict an innovation's potential success or failure, other external factors may also play a role. One of these factors is age. Because instructors are typically older than students, they will likely have different perspectives on adopting technology. While older Americans are adopting more technology and using technology more rapidly, there is still a gap between older and younger Americans (Anderson & Perrin, 2017). Additionally, younger adults are more willing to adopt technology than older adults (Morris & Venkatesh, 2000). Due to the likely age difference between instructors and students, it may affect the adoption of VR. This typical age difference can create differences in perspectives, but instructors are open to technology in the classroom (Ober et al., 2020).

Studies such as Berkowsky et al. (2018) and Czaja et al. (2006) looked at different factors which impacted if participants adopted new technologies. Some of the factors in these articles include self-assessment of computer/internet skills, prior experiences, and willingness to adopt (Berkowsky et al., 2018; Czaja et al., 2006). Other factors may be "technology self-efficacy, attitudes toward technology, and perceived ease of use of technology" (Li et al., 2016). Long et al. (2019) found similar results to Li et al. (2016), proving these factors are consistent across multiple studies. The choice to adopt or not does not rely solely on age, but also "sociodemographic factors, attitudinal variables, and cognitive abilities . . . indicating that people's choices about using a particular technology

cannot be explained solely by their age or education; they also require considerations of other psychological factors" (Czaja et al., 2006, p. 349).

Taken together, looking at perceptions of ease of use and relative advantage through students' and instructors' perspectives can give helpful insight into their thoughts and potential barriers to adopting VR as a public speaking rehearsal tool. However, it remains unclear what the similarities and differences in perceptions will be for both groups. As such, the following research question is posed:

RQ1: Will students and instructors report significantly different perceptions of (a) ease of use and (b) relative advantage of using VR for student public speaking rehearsals?

Chapter Summary

This chapter reviewed the existing literature surrounding VR and diffusion of innovation theory. From this review, two hypotheses and one research question were developed to explore student and instructor perceptions of VR to investigate VR adoption for public speaking rehearsals. The next chapter will discuss the methods being used in this study to evaluate these perceptions.

CHAPTER III

METHOD

This chapter will discuss the research methods being used, including the procedure for gaining responses, the participants' demographic information, and the instrumentation used.

Procedures

Upon receiving IRB approval (Appendix A), an email was distributed to potential participants, which included both students and instructors, using a convenience sampling method. The email was distributed to students enrolled at a small private Southern university, and instructors were contacted through the researcher's professional network (Appendix B). Participants were informed they would be asked questions about virtual reality (VR) for public speaking rehearsals and attitudes towards VR adoption in the public speaking classroom. Before beginning the survey, both groups were informed of possible risks and were prompted to provide or decline their consent to participate (Appendix C). Upon consent, participants then completed a series of survey questions contained within a student survey instrument or an instructor survey instrument as appropriate (Appendix D). The survey took approximately 15 minutes for the participants to complete.

Participants

Participants (N = 129) included both students and instructors. Students (n = 106, 81.5%) identified as female (n = 77, 72.6%) and male (n = 29, 27.4%). Students classified themselves as first years (n = 28, 26.4%), sophomores (n = 30, 28.3%), juniors (n = 23, 21.7%), seniors (n = 23, 21.7%), and graduate students (n = 2, 1.9%), with ages ranging from 18 to 24 years of age (M = 19.92, SD = 1.34). One participant did not report their age. Ethnicity information was not collected, which will be discussed as a limitation.

Instructors (n = 23, 17.7%) identified as female (n = 16, 69.6%), male (n = 6,

26.1%), and gender fluid (n = 1, 4.3%). Ages ranged from 22 to 73 years (M = 44.57, SD

= 13.51). Instructors' statuses included Adjunct Professor (n = 2, 8.7%),

Teaching/Graduate Assistant (n = 4, 17.4%), Instructor/Lecturer (n = 4, 17.4%), Assistant Professor (n = 1, 4.3%), Associate Professor (n = 3, 13%), Full Professor (n = 8, 34.8%), and Administrator (n = 1, 4.3%). The types of institutions that instructors taught at included two-year institutions (n = 8, 34.8%) and four-year institutions (n = 15, 65.2%). Instructors were also asked if they taught at a public institution (n = 13, 56.5%) or a private institution (n = 10, 43.5%). Years taught ranged from 0.5 to 47 (M = 16.93, SD =11.51). Similarly, ethnicity information and discipline taught was not collected which will be discussed as a limitation.

Instrumentation

In this portion of the methods the instrumentation used, and the reliability in the present study will be discussed.

Ease of Use

Perceptions of complexity (i.e., ease of use) were operationalized using a modified dimension of a scale developed by Moore and Benbasat (1991). This sevenitem instrument asked students and instructors to evaluate the perceived ease of use of VR in the classroom (e.g., "Learning to operate VR equipment to practice public speaking would be easy for students"). One item was deleted from this scale because the researcher perceived the wording to lack content validity for the current study: "Using VR equipment to practice public speaking would be clear and understandable for students." Participants' responses were measured with a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The measure had reliability in the current sample ($\alpha = .79$, M = 4.37, SD = 1.02).

Relative Advantage

Perceptions of relative advantage were operationalized using another modified dimension of the same scale (Moore & Benbasat, 1991). This modified, seven-item instrument asks students and instructors to evaluate the perceived relative advantage VR has in public speaking rehearsals (e.g., "Using VR equipment would enhance the effectiveness of students' public speaking rehearsals"). Two items were deleted from this scale because the researcher perceived the wording to lack content validity for the current study: "Using VR equipment enables me to accomplish tasks more quickly" and "Using VR equipment would give students greater control over their rehearsal." Responses were measured with a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The measure had reliability in the current study ($\alpha = .91$, M = 5.28, SD = 1.17).

Attitudes Toward Adoption

Attitudes toward the adoption were operationalized using three items developed for this study. The developed items ask students and instructors about their attitudes toward adopting VR (e.g., "VR equipment should be adopted for students to use when rehearsing public speaking"). Responses for this scale were measured with a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The measure was demonstrated to be reliable in this study ($\alpha = .84$, M = 4.59, SD = 1.48).

Chapter Summary

This chapter discussed the methodology being used in this study, participant demographic information, and the instrumentation used. The reliability of the scales was also presented. Chapter four will discuss the results.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

This chapter contains the results of the hypotheses and research question presented in this study. Correlations among all study variables can be found in Tables 1 and 2.

H1 Results

H1 predicted student's attitudes toward virtual reality (VR) adoption for student public speaking rehearsals would be associated with perceptions of (a) ease of use and (b) relative advantage. The researcher calculated two Pearson correlations. Results indicated perceived ease of use was significantly related to attitudes towards VR adoption (r = .66, p < .001). Further, relative advantage was significantly related to attitudes towards VR adoption (r = .84, p < .001). H1 was supported.

Table 1

Correlation of student attitudes toward VR adoption

		Relative Advantage	Ease of Use	Attitude
Relative Advantage	Pearson Correlation	1		
	Sig. (2-tailed)			
	Ν	106		
Ease of Use	Pearson Correlation	.661**	1	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		
	Ν	106	106	
Attitude	Pearson Correlation	.844**	.663**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	
	Ν	106	106	106

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

H2 Results

H2 predicted instructors' attitudes toward VR adoption for student public speaking rehearsals would be associated with perceptions of (a) ease of use and (b) relative advantage. The researcher calculated two Pearson correlations. Results indicated that perceived ease of use was significantly related to VR adoption attitudes (r = .48, p<.05). Further, relative advantage was significantly related to attitudes towards VR adoption (r = .79, p < .001). H2 was supported.

Table 2

		Relative Advantage	Ease of Use	Attitude
Relative Advantage	Pearson Correlation	1		
	Sig. (2-tailed)			
	Ν	23		
Ease of Use	Pearson Correlation	$.437^{*}$	1	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.037		
	Ν	23	23	
Attitude	Pearson Correlation	.791**	$.479^{*}$	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.021	
	Ν	23	23	23

Correlation of instructor attitudes toward VR adoption

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

RQ1 Results

RQ1 explored whether students and instructors reported significantly different perceptions of (a) ease of use and (b) relative advantage of using VR for student public speaking rehearsals. To explore this, two independent samples t-tests were conducted. Results indicated there was a significant difference in perceptions of ease of use between students (M = 4.46, SD = 1.04) and instructors (M = 3.98, SD = .83) [t(127) = -2.09, p < .05]. In addition, results indicated there was not a significant difference in perceptions of

relative advantage between students (M = 5.29, SD = 1.18) and instructors (M = 5.22, SD

= 1.16) [t(127) = -.26, p = .80]. Full model results can be found in Table 3.

Table 3

Independent samples t-test

		Levene's Test for Equality of Variances		<i>t</i> -test for Equality of Means		Sig. (2- tailed)	Mean Difference	Std. Error Difference
		F	Sig	t	df			
Relative Advantage	Equal variances assumed	.018	.893	257	127	.798	06940	.27012
	Equal variances not assumed			260	32.632	.797	06940	.26723
Ease of Use	Equal variances assumed	.949	.332	-2.086	127	.039	48149	.23080
	Equal variances not assumed			-2.400	38.343	.021	48149	.20064

Chapter Summary

This chapter discussed the results that were found. Both hypotheses used a Pearson correlation, and the research question used an independent samples *t*-test. The review of results, discussion, limitations, and future directions will be discussed in chapter five.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Presented in this chapter is the review of results, discussion, limitations, and future directions. Within this discussion, a summary of the results, the implications for diffusion of innovation theory are assessed, the steps for virtual reality (VR) implementation, limitations, and future directions are discussed.

Summary of Results

The purpose of this study was to determine student and instructor perceptions of VR for public speaking rehearsals. Hypothesis one (H1) looked at student attitudes toward VR and their perceptions of ease of use and relative advantage. The results of this hypothesis found that perceptions of ease of use and relative advantage were associated. Hypothesis two (H2) looked at instructor attitudes toward VR and their perceptions of ease of use and relative advantage were associated found that ease of use and relative advantage. Like the first hypothesis, this hypothesis's results found that ease of use and relative advantage were associated. Research question one (RQ1) explored the differences between student and instructor perceptions of ease of use and relative advantage. This research question found no significant differences between students and instructors concerning relative advantage, but there were differences between students' and instructors' perceptions of ease of use. Instructors believe that using VR would be more complex than students.

Diffusion of Innovation Theory Implications

The use of diffusion of innovation theory in this study is unique. Many of the studies located in the literature review did not look at the attributes of diffusion of innovation theory individually. However, it is possible that by looking at the attributes individually, more depth is reached, and different conclusions can be drawn than if all attributes were looked at collectively (Min et al., 2019). Using the individual attributes of diffusion of innovation theory helped clarify the similarities and differences of students' and instructors' perceptions. The use of diffusion of innovation to study technological advancements has seen positive results in prior studies (Albirini, 2006). These positive correlations between the attributes and technology give promise that diffusion of innovation. Thus, future VR usage to provide students additional ways to practice public speaking appears promising (Frisby et al., 20202; Vallade et al., 2020). As mentioned, this study looked at ease of use and relative advantage separately; this helps draw more specific conclusions about how perceptions about these attributes will affect adoption.

First, results indicated that ease of use is related to students' and instructors' attitudes towards adoption. Both groups indicated they would not adopt VR if it was highly complex. Using diffusion of innovation theory can create clarity for limitations to adoption, such as an innovation being too complex. Ease of use can play a significant role in adoption because if an innovation is too hard to use, people will not adopt it or continue use in their life (Min et al., 2019; Rogers, 2003). Integrating a technology, especially a complex technology, is more than just providing the technology and expecting instructors to implement it into their classroom (Afshari et al., 2009). There

will need to be a well-developed process to implement VR for both students and instructors successfully. Ease of use will be important to focus on because there were significant differences between students and instructors. While this study shows that instructors viewed VR as more complex, this does not mean that they are unwilling to adopt it. Ease of use is highly important for technology adoption in adults (Li et al., 2016; Long et al., 2019). While there will be some complexity reduction steps that will need to be implemented for students, such as having training sessions and available troubleshooting technicians, the main focus should be on instructors. It will be important to find ways to show instructors that using VR for public speaking rehearsals is not complex. One way to do this is by having a well-developed support system which will be discussed later. However, ease of use was not the only attribute discussed in this study.

Students and instructors also indicated that relative advantage is related to their attitudes toward adoption. Because relative advantage is the greatest indicator of success for an innovation (Rogers, 2003), having positive results shows promise for the future of VR. Both students and instructors found VR to be relatively advantageous; this means that institutions and VR companies will not have to work as hard to show students and instructors that they should adopt VR. Having positive results for the most likely indicator of success is promising for the future of VR. Additionally, both of these groups can see the promise of VR, but it will still be important to show them why they should adopt it. Further research can continue to emphasize the relative advantage of using VR for public speaking rehearsals (Felnhofer et al., 2014; Frisby et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020; Mabrook & Singer, 2019; Palmas et al., 2019; Vallade et al., 2020). Continuing future

research and increasing the studies done with VR can help increase its visibility and help contribute to the other attributes such as trialability, observability, and compatibility.

Because there were significant differences between students and instructors, it is important to address those, why they may have happened, and how to resolve those concerns. In the present study, instructors viewed VR as being more complex than students did. There could be several reasons for this, such as the ones discussed before RQ1. Instructors are typically older than students, and they may be less confident or more hesitant to adopt new technologies (Morris & Venkatesh, 2000). An instructor's steps to adopt a piece of technology would likely take much longer than a student would. Instructors may have also previously had bad experiences with new technology. Additionally, instructors would likely consider other factors such as ease of use, selfassessment, and attitudes when deciding if they would adopt new technology (Berkowsky et al., 2018; Czaja et al., 2006; Li et al., 2016; Long et al., 2019).

Instructors may also consider other factors like set-up and how they will integrate VR into their lesson plans. Students may not consider the thought process behind integrating VR; therefore, they may not have considered its ease of use. However, instructors are still willing to integrate technology into their classrooms despite complexity (Ober et al., 2020). Although instructors viewed VR as being more complex, this does not mean that they are unwilling to adopt VR. If institutions or VR companies want successful implementation, the steps below can give helpful information and factors to consider. Ways to increase ease of use are also mentioned in the following sections.

Steps for VR Implementation

For the successful implementation of VR for public speaking rehearsals, several steps can be taken. Many different groups can play a role in successfully implementing VR. Throughout the following sections of this discussion, these groups and the steps that they can take will be discussed. These steps will be important, as to the author's knowledge no universities have implemented VR for public speaking rehearsals.

There are several steps that students can take that will be helpful in VR adoption for public speaking rehearsals. Previous studies indicate VR can give students a more authentic experience and may also provide desensitization to public speaking (Frisby et al., 2020). Using VR can also help students by giving them more control, increased comfort, and reduced risk while practicing public speaking (Frisby et al., 2020). If students are going to use VR, several steps are suggested to ensure that it benefits students and gives them positive results. Vallade et al. (2020) stressed the importance of having the VR headset be available to students and knowing that it is available. However, just having the VR headset available may not be enough. Students should be willing to use VR and have an open mind when presented with an opportunity to use VR. Training the students and giving them adequate resources will be necessary. If they do not have the knowledge to use VR, they will not use it. While students' role in VR adoption's success is somewhat limited, students are still important, and VR could not be implemented for public speaking rehearsals. The role that other entities play will inevitably have a more significant impact on VR adoption.

For instructors, considerations are similar to those of students, but they will differ slightly. Like student use, instructors will also need to understand how to operate VR.

More importantly, they will need to set up the VR for student use inside or outside the classroom. Having training sessions such as a "lunch and learn" or other professional development sessions will help increase ease of use and help instructors understand how to operate the VR headset (Li et al., 2016; Long et al., 2019). Instructors can also offer incentives to students and offer them the chance to use VR. Having an instructor who wants VR to be used can encourage the students to use or continue using it. Instructors will also need to ensure equitable access to the VR headset and that all students will have the same opportunities to use it (Vallade et al., 2020). Having equal access will be essential to ensure that some students are not having an unfair use or lack of use of the VR headset. This will also depend on whether the VR is being provided through the instructor or a communication center.

Communication centers, also called speaking centers, are an institutional resource that can be offered to students to help offer support during the speech writing and rehearsal process. The services offered at these centers vary greatly between institutions. When visits are voluntary, many students do not seek help from a communication center. In Nelson et al. (2012), 78% of their sample did not attend when it was voluntary; while this study's results may be limited, there still may be some truth across all institutions. While there may not be initial success for communication centers, there are steps that the staff can take to make it and the support for VR more successful. Working with instructors to develop a visitation schedule or a plan for when students will visit can be helpful. Having this open line of communication and collaboration can help create more opportunities for cutting-edge technologies, like VR (LeFebvre et al., 2017). For students, making visits to a communication center required may help increase and incentivize

using its resources, including VR (Nelson et al., 2012). As mentioned earlier, there are no known communication centers using VR for public speaking rehearsals, and there is virtually no research exploring how effective VR is for speech rehearsals in a communication center setting. Another resource that will likely be critical in the success of adopting VR for public speaking rehearsals is the information technology department.

The information technology (IT) department is an often critical but overlooked department at an institution. The role that this department can play will be a primarily background and support role. IT can often purchase devices at a reduced rate or with a group discount price, which can help cut down on the VR headsets' cost. They can also offer training sessions as mentioned in the instructor's role, as this training will be important to developing understanding and self-efficacy from the instructors (Li et al., 2016). Additionally, the IT department can be responsible for the set-up and maintenance of the VR headsets, which can be complex. Having the IT department handle more of the technical role will help increase the instructors' ease of use. Overall, the role of the IT department is to offer set-up and support. However, not all institutions have a well-developed IT department, or they may wish to handle new technologies like this at the institutional level.

Lastly, institutions will likely play an essential role in adopting VR use for public speaking rehearsals. Having institutional level support can help ensure equitable access to VR, and they can ensure a smooth rollout and maintenance of the VR headsets (Vallade et al., 2020). In many cases, institutions have greater access to funding or are more easily able to secure grants than individual instructors or departments. This greater access to funding can ensure that the proper headsets are being purchased and better provide

support. Successful implementation will require support from students, instructors, and the institution (Afshari et al., 2009). While it is possible for instructors to operate the VR rehearsals in coordination with the students, having institutional support will likely increase the effectiveness and success. It is crucial to find ways to increase ease of use, such as having trained information technology or communication center employees, ensuring that instructors are adequately trained, and if students have difficulty, they know how to find the solution.

Limitations

Within the present study, several limitations could have impacted the results. Both student and instructor sample sizes were relatively small and were convenience samples. Small sample sizes can potentially lead to problems because they may not be fully representative of the population. Having such a small sample size can potential create false positive or negative results (Hackshaw, 2008). A small study can still be effective, but the results must be interpreted carefully as the results may not fully represent the population. During the present study, there was some difficulty getting respondents, especially from the instructors; one way to increase responses could have been to distribute the survey through various listservs such as COMMNotes, the National Communication Association's daily email server. Increasing the number of places that the survey was published and not relying on snowball sampling could have helped get more respondents. For students, more respondents could have been reached by canvassing campus and handing out slips of paper with the survey link or a QR code. The email distribution could have also been sent to more instructors or students directly. However, the COVID-19 pandemic may have also affected students not wanting to take

the survey. Had students been approached in the library or on other parts of campus, they may have been hesitant to be approached by a stranger during a pandemic.

Additional limitations with the sample were that it was a convenience sample. Convenience samples can be problematic because they may not represent the population (Andrade, 2020). Also, the people that chose to take the survey could have self-selected and already be interested in VR, which may also have skewed results, as they may not fully represent the population. Distribution to more potential participants could have alleviated this. Using a more random sample method could increase the number of participants and reduce convenience sample effects. Using a stratified sampling method within the university and giving each student at the university a chance to take the survey could have reduced these convenience factors.

Other potential limitations within the survey were within the questions asked. Ethnicity was unintentionally omitted from the survey that was distributed to participants. This omission can potentially be problematic because while ethnicity is a social construct, it profoundly affects what people feel (Williams & Husk, 2013). Also, the experiences of different ethnic groups may have had an impact on their perceptions of VR. The inclusion of ethnicity can be best used as "a complex interacting variable rather than either a casual or explanatory factor" (Williams & Husk, 2013). Without ethnicity, the full scope of the diversity of the sample is unknown. Not knowing the ethnicity and diversity of this sample can affect its generalizability.

Another potential limitation was that instructors were not asked what discipline they taught, meaning that non-communication faculty could have taken the survey. While this may have been helpful for descriptive statistic purposes, it could also play a role if

instructors understood how speech rehearsals work. Additionally, it could be helpful in understanding if those in charge of funding would view VR as being helpful for public speaking rehearsals.

Other limitations within the survey questions were that students and instructors might not fully understand how the VR software would work. In the survey, only images were included, meaning that the participants may not have understood the process of how VR works. A video showing how the software would work was considered, but it was not included to reduce survey complexity and ensure participants did not skip the video. Additionally, questions about participant's past experiences with VR were not included. Had a student or instructor used VR in the past, this could have changed their perspectives, mainly if they had a poor experience.

Lastly, the student participants were only students at a private university. This may have impacted results, as students from public and private universities may have different experiences (Martin, 2011). The wealth distribution between public and private universities and the students who attend them may impact prior VR experiences (Martin, 2011). Overall, there were several limitations that this study faced. While these limitations may not have directly impacted the study, it is crucial to address them as they may have played a role in the results.

Future Directions

Several future research studies could be conducted. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this study's original concept was modified to meet current social distancing and capacity guidelines. However, in a post-pandemic world, the original concept could be studied once it is safe to be within six feet and share a VR headset. Students would be

able to practice using VR to rehearse their speech in a communication center setting, classroom setting, or home. A survey could then be sent out to evaluate students' perceptions of VR after using it and getting to see how it works. Another similar option would be similar to Vallade et al. (2020), but with instructors' inclusion. By including instructors, both the student and instructor perceptions would be recorded, increasing survey results' accuracy. By including both pre and post-surveys, it would be possible to see student and instructor perceptions before and after using VR to see how they changed.

Second, a similar study could be conducted and focus on the other attributes of diffusion of innovation theory that were not included in this study. This study would likely need to be an in-person study as the students would need access to trial and observe the VR headsets before determining if they are compatible. A study could be conducted that analyzes where participants are within the adoption curve and look at the innovation-decision process. Seeing where participants are at within the innovation-decision process can help universities and VR companies see what they can do to increase VR adoption further and move through the process. These studies could be done through surveys similar to the present survey or through more active and involved methods (Frisby et al., 2020; Vallade et al., 2020). Including these other attributes may help bring in a more well-rounded view of student and instructor perceptions.

A third potential study could take place over a semester and study the more longterm effects of using VR in the public speaking classroom. Including VR studies over time can also help look at overall improvement and change. Many of the more current VR studies, especially for the public speaking classroom, look at shorter-term results.

Including a semester-long study would give more opportunity to analyze the effectiveness and more opportunity for perception development. Student and instructor perceptions may be different depending on repeated use. While some studies such as Scheveneels et al. (2019), Safir et al. (2012) included multiple sessions, these studies were mainly focused on reducing public speaking anxiety. It would be interesting to study how perceptions have changed over a semester and including both students and instructors would also help create a more well-rounded view of this.

Conclusion

The study of successful adoption of technology into classrooms is a continuing and essential topic. Technology has strong evidence for use in the classroom to create "a powerful learning environment . . . involve new forms of learning and teaching . . . contribute to creating learning environments in which students can actively work on solving real problems encountered in daily life" (Volman & van Eck, 2001, p. 614). Thus, including technology, such as VR in the classroom, is also likely to help advance student learning and prepare them for life events (Drent & Meelissen, 2008). The adoption of VR for public speaking rehearsals may help expand the use of VR as an educational tool within the discipline of communication.

Since VR is still in its infancy for use in the classroom setting, studies such as this give insight to the future of VR as an emerging academic tool. As this study has demonstrated, VR is perceived as relatively advantageous by instructors and students, and this may help its adoption. Also documented within this study, innovators will likely need to find additional ways to increase ease of use as complexity may hinder the adoption process, specifically among instructors. This study's findings further support

earlier research that demonstrated that VR was seen as effective (Frisby et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020; Vallade et al., 2020). Therefore, combining the known efficacy of VR with the positive perceptions of relative advantage and ease of use among instructors and students gives VR a strong foothold into its integration into public speaking rehearsals. It now appears using VR for public speaking rehearsals has promise to be a new, innovative, and groundbreaking way to practice public speaking. Finally, future developers and institutions should be encouraged to increase ease of use and emphasizing the relative advantage of VR for public speaking rehearsals to increase adoption by students and instructors.

REFERENCES

- Albirini, A. (2006). Teachers attitudes toward information and communication
 technologies: The case of Syrian EFL teachers. *Computers & Education, 47*, 373-398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2004.10.013
- Afshari, M., Abu Bakar, K., Su Luan, W., Abu Samah, B., & Say Fooi, F. (2009). Factors affecting teachers' use of information and communication technology. *International Journal of Instruction*, 2(1), 77-104
- Al-Jabri, I. & Sohail, M. S. (2012). Mobile banking adoption: Application of diffusion of innovation theory. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 13(4), 379-391.
 https://ssrn.com/abstract=2523623
- Anderson, M. & Perrin, A. (2017). *Tech adoption climbs among older adults*. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/
- Anderson, P. L., Zimand, E., Hodges, L. F., & Rothbaum, B. O. (2005). Cognitive behavioral therapy for public speaking anxiety using virtual reality for exposure. *Depression and Anxiety*, 22, 156-158. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20090
- Andrade, C. (2020). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86-88. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0253717620977000
- Bass, F. M. (1969). A new product growth for model consumer durables. *Management Science*, 15(5), 215-227. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2628128

- Berkowsky, R. W., Sharit, J., & Czaja, S. J. (2018). Factors predicting decisions about technology adoption among older adults. *Innovation in Aging*, 1(3), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igy002
- Chang, H. C. (2010). A new perspective on Twitter hashtag use: Diffusion of innovation theory. *Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 47(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1002/meet.14504701295
- Cornwell, B. R., Johnson, L., Berardi, L., & Grillon, C. (2005). Anticipation of public speaking in virtual reality reveals a relationship between trait social anxiety and startle reactivity. *Biological Psychiatry*, 59(7), 664-666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.09.015
- Correia Loureiro, S. M., Guerreiro, J., & Ali, F. (2020). 20 years of research on virtual reality and augmented reality in tourism context: A text-mining approach. *Tourism Management*, 77, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2019.104028
- Cramer, L. M. (2015). Teaching the foundations of media literacy in the basic communication course. *The Forensic of Pi Kappa Delta, 100*, 13-32.
- Cronin, M. W., & Kennan, W. R. (1994). Using interactive video instruction to enhance public speaking instruction. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 6(5). 1-19. h9p://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol6/iss1/5

Curtis, M. (2020). Toward understanding secondary teachers' decisions to adopt geospatial technologies: An examination of Everett Rogers' diffusion of innovation framework. Journal of Geography, 119(5), 147-158. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221341.2020.1784252

- Czaja, S. J., Fisk, A. D., Hertzog, C., Rogers, W. A., Charness, N., Nair, S. N., & Sharit, J. (2006). Factors predicting the use of technology: Findings from the center for research and education on aging and technology enhancement (CREATE). *Psychology and Aging, 21*(2), 333-352. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.21.2.333
- Delivering your speech: Mastering the location. (n. d.). Lumen. Retrieved April 1. 2021 from https://courses.lumenlearning.com/publicspeaking/chapter/chapter-12mastering-the-location/
- Drent, M. & Meelissen, M. (2008). Which factors obstruct or stimulate teacher educators to use ICT innovatively? *Computers & Education*, 51, 187-199. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.compedu.2007.05.001
- Edwards, A. A. (2021). From TED Talks to TikTok: Teaching digital communication to match student skills with employer desires. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 33(17), 336-341. https://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol33/iss1/17
- Elmer, D. (2007). Something different from the same-oh, same-oh a survey of community college students' competence in and use of technology in public speaking classes. *Journal of Literacy and Technology*, 8(1), 21-39. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.576.7288&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Farley, O. R. L., Spencer, K., & Baudinet, L. (2020). Virtual reality in sports coaching, skill acquisition and application to surfing: A review. *Journal of Human Sport* and Exercise, 15(3), 535-548. https://doi.org/10.14198/jhse.2020.153.06

- Felnhofer, A., Kothgassner, O. D., Hetterle, T., Beutl, L., Hlavacs, H., & Kryspin-Exner,
 I. (2014). Afraid to be there? Evaluating the relation between presence, self-reported anxiety, and heart rate in a virtual public speaking task. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 17*(5), 310-316.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2013.0472
- Frisby, B. N. (2017). Capitalizing on the inevitable: Adapting to mobile technology in the basic communication course. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 29(8), 75-82. h9p://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol29/iss1/8
- Frisby, B. N., Kaufmann, R., Vallade, J. I., Frey, T. K., & Martin, J. C. (2020). Using virtual reality for speech rehearsals: An innovative instructor approach to enhance student public speaking efficacy. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 32(1), 6. https://ecommons.udayton.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1587&context=bcca
- Goh, E., & Sigala, M. (2020). Integrating information & communication technologies (ICT) into classroom instruction: Teaching tips for hospitality educators from a diffusion of innovation approach. *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism, 20*(2), 156-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313220.2020.1740636
- Grand View Research. (2020). Virtual reality market size, share & trends analysis report by device (HMD, GTD), by technology (semi & fully immersive, non-immersive), by component, by application, by region, and segment forecasts, 2020 - 2027.
 Grand View Research. https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industryanalysis/virtual-reality-vr-market
- Hackshaw, A. (2008). Small studies: strengths and limitations. *European Respiratory*, *Journal*, *32*(5), 1141-1143. https://doi.org/ 10.1183/09031936.00136408

- Harris, S. R., Kemmerling, R. L., & North, M. M. (2002). Brief virtual reality therapy for public speaking anxiety. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 5(6), 543-550. https://doi.org/10.1089/109493102321018187
- Hopf, T., & Ayres, J. (1992). Coping with public speaking anxiety: An examination of various combinations of systematic desensitization, skills training, and visualization. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 20(2), 183-198. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909889209365328
- How technology can help higher education transition post-pandemic. (2021). Buildings. Retrieved April 1, 2021 from

https://www.buildings.com/articles/42750/technology-education-post-pandemic

- Kahlon, S., Lindner, P., & Nordgreen, T. (2019). Virtual reality exposure therapy for adolescents with fear of public speaking: A non-randomized feasibility and pilot study. *Child Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *13*(47), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-019-0307-y
- Klein, T., & Liang, B. (2020). Using tech to boost the value of higher education during COVID-19. EdTech. https://edtechmagazine.com/higher/article/2020/09/usingtech-boost-value-higher-education-during-covid-19
- Lajoie, E. W., & Bridges, L. (2014). Innovation decisions: Using the Gartner Hype Cycle. *Library Leadership & Management, 28*(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.5860/llm.v28i4.7083
- Lederman, D. (2020). *Faculty confidence in online learning grows*. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2020/10/06/covid-eraexperience-strengthens-faculty-belief-value-online

Lee, A. D., Florencio Da Costa, A., Davis, A., Linvill, D. L., Hodges, L. F. (2020).
 Virtualized speech practice for the college classroom [Conference paper]. 2020
 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces Abstracts and Workshops (VRW), 133-137. https://doi.org/10.1109/VRW50115.2020.00028

- Lee, A. E. L. & Wong, K. W. (2014). Learning with desktop virtual reality: Low spatial ability learners are more positively affected. *Computers and Education*, 79, 49-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.07.010.
- Lee, S. H., Sergueeva, K., Catangui, M., & Kandaurova, M. (2017). Assessing Google Cardboard virtual reality as a content delivery system in business classrooms. *Journal of Education for Business*, 92(4), 153-160. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2017.1308308
- LeFebvre, L. & LeFebvre, L. E. (2018). "The eye in the sky doesn't lie": Video replay and self-evaluations as part of the basic communication course. Communication Teacher, 32(3), 167-178. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2017.1372788
- LeFebvre, L., LeFebvre, L., & Anderson, D. (2017). The communication center at U.S. colleges and universities: A descriptive overview II. *Communication Education*, 66(4). 440-450. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2017.1322211
- Li, K., Li, Y., & Franklin, T. (2016). Preservice teachers' intention to adopt technology in their future classrooms. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 54(7), 946-966. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633116641694
- Lister, H. A., Piercey, C. D., & Joordens, C. (2010). The effectiveness of 3-D video Virtual Reality for the treatment of fear of public speaking. *Journal of CyberTherapy and Rehabilitation*, 3(4), 375-381.

- Long, T., Cummins, J., & Waugh, M. (2019). Investigating the factors that influence higher education instructors' decisions to adopt a flipped classroom instructional model. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *50*(4), 2028-2039. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/bjet.12703
- Maas, M. J., & Hughes, J. M. (2020). Virtual, augmented and mixed reality in K-12 education: A review of the literature. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 29(2), 231- 249. https://doi.org/10.1080/1475939X.2020.1737210
- Mabrook, R. & Singer, J. B. (2019). Virtual reality, 360° video, and journalism studies:
 Conceptual approaches to immersive technologies. *Journalism Studies*, 20(14), 2096-2112. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670X.2019.1568203
- Makransky, G., & Lilleholt, L. (2018). A structural equation modeling investigation of the emotional value of immersive virtual reality in education. *Educational Technology Research and Development, 66*, 1141-1164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-018-9581-2
- Mandal, S. (2013). Brief introduction of virtual reality & its challenges. *International Journal of Scientific & Engineering Research*, 4(4), 304-309.
 https://www.ijser.org/researchpaper/Brief-Introduction-of-Virtual-Reality-its-Challenges.pdf
- Martin, N. D. (2011). The privilege of ease: Social class and campus life at highly selective, private universities. *Research in Higher Education*, 53, 426-452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-011-9234-3

- Mayo Clinic. (n.d.). *Cognitive behavioral therapy*. Retrieved November 29, 2020 from https://www.mayoclinic.org/tests-procedures/cognitive-behavioral-therapy/about/pac-20384610
- McDaniel, C., Suffern, C., Joo, J., & Alamuddin, R. (2020). Student and faculty experiences with emergency remote learning in spring 2020. ITHAKA S+R. https://sr.ithaka.org/publications/student-and-faculty-experiences-withemergency-remote-learning-in-spring-2020/
- McGrath, C., & Zell, D. (2001). The future of innovation diffusion research and its implications for management: A conversation with Everett Rogers. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, *10*(4), 386-391. https://doi.org/10.1177/1056492601104012
- Menzel, K. E., & Carrell, L. J. (1994). The relationship between preparation and performance in public speaking. *Communication Education*, 43(1), 17-26. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634529409378958
- Merchant, Z., Goetz, E. T., Cifuentes, L., Keeney-Kennicutt, W., & Davis, T. J. (2014).
 Effectiveness of virtual reality-based instruction on students' learning outcomes in K-12 and higher education: A meta-analysis. *Computers & Education, 70,* 29-40. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2013.07.033
- Min, S., Kam Fung So, K., & Jeong, M. (2019). Consumer adoption of the Uber mobile application: Insights from diffusion of innovation theory and technology acceptance model. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 36(7), 770-783. https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2018.1507866

- Mino, M. & Butler, M. N. (1995). Improving oral communication competency: An interactive approach to basic public speaking introduction. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 7(7), 1-25. http://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol7/iss1/71
- Moore, G. C., & Benbasat, I. (1991). Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation. *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), 192-222. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2.3.192
- Morreale, S. P., Myers, S. A., Backlund, P. M., & Simonds C. J. (2016). Study IX of the basic communication course at two- and four-year U.S. colleges and universities:
 A re-examination of our discipline's "front porch." *Communication Education*, 65(3), 338-355. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2015.1073339
- Morris, M. G., & Venkatesh, V. (2000). Age differences in technology adoption decisions: Implications for a changing work force. *Personnel Psychology*, *53*(2), 375-403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2000.tb00206.x
- Muchmore, J. & White, J. F. (1976). Here's looking at us: A report of the Denver conference on speech communication in the community-junior college.
 Association for Communication Administration Bulletin, 17, 2-70.
 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED127642.pdf
- Nelson, C. L., Whitfeld, T. S., & Moreau, M. (2012). I need help: Help seeking behaviors, communication anxiety and communication center usage. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 24, 151-188.

https://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol24/iss1/10

- Nissim, Y., & Weissblueth, E. (2017). Virtual reality (VR) as a source for self-efficacy in teacher training. *International Education Studies*, 10(8), 52-59. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ies.v10n8p52
- Ntemma, T. J., & Olatokun, W. (2012). Analyzing the influence of diffusion of innovation attributes on lectures' attitudes toward information and communication technologies. *Human Technology*, 8(2), 179-197. https://doi.org/10.17011/ht/urn.201211203034
- Ober, T. M., Brodsky, J. E., Yannaco, F. D., & Brooks, P. J. (2020). College instructors' and students' views of the use (and misuse) of personal mobile devices. *Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in Psychology*, 1-25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/stl0000214
- Obituary Everett Rogers (2005). *The Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal, 10*(1), 1. http://www.innovation.cc/editorial-board/obituary-e-rogers.pdf

O'Brien, J. (2020). More Than a Lifeline. Inside Higher Ed.

https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2020/05/05/covid-19-has-demonstratedhow-technology-higher-ed-major-strategic-asset-opinion

Opt, S. (2012). Enhancing peer feedback and speech preparation: The speech video activity. *Communication Teacher*, 26(4), 224-227. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2012.719630

Osterland, A. (2020). Coronavirus could be catalyst to reinvigorate virtual reality headsets. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2020/05/02/coronavirus-could-becatalyst-to-reinvigorate-virtual-reality-headsets.html Palmas, F., Cichor, J. E., Plecher, D. A., & Klinker, G. (2019). Acceptance and effectiveness of a virtual reality public speaking training [Conference paper].
2019 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR), 363-371. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR.2019.00034

Papanastasiou, G., Drigas, A., Skianis, C., Lytras, M., & Papanastasiou, E. (2019).
Virtual and augmented reality effects on K-12, higher and tertiary education students' twenty-first century skills. *Virtual Reality, 23,* 425-436.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-018-0363-2

Parsons, T. D., & Rizzo, A. A. (2008). Affective outcomes of virtual reality exposure therapy for anxiety and specific phobias: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 39, 250-261. dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2007.07.007

Pecot-Hebert, L. (2012). To hybrid or not to hybrid, that is the question! Incorporating VoiceThread technology into a traditional communication course.*Communication Teacher*, 26(3), 129-134.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2011.650703

Perilla Jiménez, J. R. (2020). Testing the impact of technology diffusion and innovation on long-run growth using cointegration techniques. *The Journal of International Trade & Economic Development, 29*(6), 748-773. https://doi.org.10/1080/09638199.2020.1729229

- Pertaub, D. P., Slater. M., & Barker, C. (2002). An experiment on public speaking anxiety in response to three different types of virtual audience. *Presence Teleoperators & Virtual Environments, 11*(1), 68-78. https://doi.org/ 10.1162/105474602317343668
- Phillips, G. M., & Santoro, G. M. (1989). Teaching group discussion via computermediated communication. *Communication Education*, 38(2), 51-161. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634528909378748
- Prentiss, S. (2021). Our basic course and communication skills training: The time for innovation is now (yes, even in a pandemic). *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 33(19). 346-350. https://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol33/iss1/19
- Radianti, J., Majchrzak, T. A., Fromm, J., & Wohlgenannt, I. (2020). A systematic review of immersive virtual reality applications for higher education: Design elements, lessons learned, and research agenda. *Computers & Education, 147,* 1-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103778
- Reddick, C. G., Puron Cid, G., & Ganapati, S. (2019). Determinants of blockchain adoption in the public sector: An empirical examination. *Information Polity*, 24, 379-396. https://doi.org/10.3233/IP-190150
- Rim, D., & Shin, H. (2021). Effective instructional design template for virtual simulations in nursing education. *Nurse Education Today*, 96, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104624
- Rogers, E. M. (1962). *Diffusion of innovations* (1st ed). Free Press.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed). Free Press.

- Rubin, R. B., Rubin, A. M., & Jordan, F. F. (1997). Effects of instruction on communication apprehension and communication competence. *Communication Education*, 46(2), 104-114. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634529709379080
- Russell, B. W. (1993). The effect of computer-generated instructional feedback and videotape on the speaking performance of college students in basic speech course. *Basic Communication Course Annual*, 5(5), 1-26.
 h8p://ecommons.udayton.edu/bcca/vol5/iss1/5
- Safir, M. P., Wallach, H. S., & Bar-Zvi, M. (2012). Virtual reality cognitive-behavior therapy for public speaking anxiety: One-year follow-up. *Behavior Modification*, 36(2), 235-246. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445511429999
- Sartipi, F. (2020). Diffusion of innovation theory in the realm of environmental construction. *Journal of Construction Materials*, 4(2), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.36756/JCM.v1.3.2

Scheveneels, S., Boddez, Y., Van Daele, T., & Hermans, D. (2019). Virtually unexpected: No role for expectancy violation in virtual reality exposure for public speaking anxiety. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02849

- Scott, S. & McGuire, J. (2017). Using diffusion of innovation theory to promote universally designed college instruction. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 29*(1), 119-128. http://www.isetl.org/ijtlhe/
- Singhal, A. (2009). Diffusion of innovations. In S. W. Littlejohn & K. A. Foss (Eds.) In, *Encyclopedia of communication theory*, (pp. 307–309). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Slater, M., Pertaub, D. P., & Steed, A. (1999). Public speaking in virtual reality: Facing an audience of avatars. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 19(2), 6-9. https://doi.org/10.1109/38.749116

Stark, B. F. (2018). Using diffusion of innovation theory to examine the perceived attributes of blended learning: A survey of teachers and administrators in PreK-12 Schools. [Doctoral dissertation, Millersville University of Pennsylvania].
ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.

https://media.proquest.com/media/hms/PFT/2/hEpXG?_s=3bcXRWmmvmv37L DdY1RAHvc3jM0%3D

- Stupar-Rutenfrans, S., Ketelaars. L. E. H., & van Gisbergen, M. S. (2017). Beat the fear of public speaking: Mobile 360° video virtual reality exposure training in home environment reduces public speaking anxiety. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 20*(10), 624-633. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2017.0174
- Thomas, M., Costa, D., & Oliveira, T. (2016). Assessing the role of IT-enabled process virtualization on green IT adoption. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 18, 693-710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-015-9556-3
- Valenti, S., Lund, B. & Wang, T. (2020). Virtual reality as a tool for student orientation in distance education programs. *Information Technology and Libraries*, 39(2), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.6017/ital.v39i2.11937
- Valenzano, J. M. III, Wallace, S. P., & Morreale, S. P. (2014). Consistency and change: The (r)evolution of the basic communication course. *Communication Education*, 63(4), 355-365. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2014.911928

- Vallade, J. I., Kaufmann, R., Frisby, B. N., & Martin, J. C. (2020). Technology acceptance model: Investigating students' intentions toward adoption of immersive 360° videos for public speaking rehearsals. *Communication Education*, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2020.1791351
- Vollink, T., Meertens, R., & Midden, C. J. H. (2002). Innovative 'diffusion of innovation' theory: Innovation characteristics and the intention of utility companies to adopt energy conservation interventions. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 22, 333-344. https://doi.org/10.1006/jevp.2001.0237
- Volmann, M. & van Eck, E. (2001). Gender equity and information technology in education: The second decade. *Review of Educational Research*, 71(4), 613-634. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543071004613
- Warford, M. K. (2017). Educational innovation diffusion: Confronting complexities. *Reforms and Innovation in Education*, 11-36. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60246-2_2

Williams, M. & Husk, K. (2013). Can we, should we, measure ethnicity? International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 16(4), 285-300. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2012.682794

APPENDIX A

Institutional Review Board Approval Letter

ABILENE CHRISTIAN UNIVERSITY Educating Students for Christian Service and Leadership Throughout the World

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs 320 Hardin Administration Building, ACU Box 29103, Abilene, Texas 79699-9103 325-674-2885



Carrie Saltsman Department of Communication and Sociology Abilene Christian University

Dear Carrie,

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board, I am pleased to inform you that your project titled "Virtual Reality for Public Speaking Rehearsals: Student and Faculty Perceptions",

(IRB# 20-173) is exempt from review under Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects.

If at any time the details of this project change, please resubmit to the IRB so the committee can determine whether or not the exempt status is still applicable.

I wish you well with your work.

Sincerely,

Megan Roth

Megan Roth, Ph.D. Director of Research and Sponsored Programs

Our Promise: ACU is a vibrant, innovative, Christ-centered community that engages students in authentic spiritual and intellectual growth, equipping them to make a real difference in the world.



APPENDIX B

Solicitation Materials

(Sent Via E-mail to Students)

Virtual Reality (VR) is a new and upcoming technology, and it may be useful in the public speaking classroom. However, if instructors and students are not willing to use VR its efficacy may not matter. You are invited to participate in a study that explores attitudes towards the adoption of VR in the public speaking classroom. The participation time will be approximately 15 minutes.

If you meet the following criteria, you are eligible to participate in this study.

- At least 18 years old
- Currently a college student

<Insert Link Here>

Questions? Contact Carrie Saltsman at cas20a@acu.edu or the advisor Dr. Nick Tatum at nick.tatum@acu.edu

(Sent Via E-mail to Instructors)

Virtual Reality (VR) is a new and upcoming technology, and it may be useful in the public speaking classroom. However, if instructors and students are not willing to use VR its efficacy may not matter. You are invited to participate in a study that explores attitudes towards the adoption of VR in the public speaking classroom. The participation time will be approximately 15 minutes.

If you meet the following criteria, you are eligible to participate in this study.

- At least 18 years old
- Currently a college instructor or have been an instructor within the past 10 years

<Insert Link Here>

Questions? Contact Carrie Saltsman at cas20a@acu.edu or the advisor Dr. Nick Tatum at nick.tatum@acu.edu

APPENDIX C

IRB Participant Consent

Introduction:

You may be eligible to take part in a research study. This form provides important information about that study, including the risks and benefits to you, the potential participant. Please read this form carefully and ask any questions that you may have regarding the procedures, your involvement, and any risks or benefits you may experience. You may also wish to discuss your participation with other people, such as your family doctor or a family member.

PURPOSE AND DESCRIPTION:

Virtual Reality (VR) is a new and upcoming technology and it may be useful in the public speaking classroom. However, if instructors and students are not willing to use VR its efficacy may not matter.

If you agree to participate, you will be asked to complete a questionnaire through a secure link. You will also be asked to provide basic demographic information in order to document the diversity of the sample as well as ask a series of questions about your perceptions on using VR in the classroom.

RISKS & BENEFITS:

There are risks to taking part in this research study. You may experience mild psychological discomfort when reflecting on a previous experience. However, to the best of our knowledge, the things you will be asked have no more risk of harm than you would experience in everyday life. In addition to risks described in this consent, you may experience a previously unknown risk or side effect.

The primary risk with this study is breach of confidentiality. However, we will make every effort to safeguard your data, but as with anything online, we cannot guarantee the security of data obtained via the Internet. However, we have taken steps to minimize this risk. We will not be collecting any personal identification data during the survey. Thirdparty applications used in this study (i.e., Google Forms) may have Terms of Service and Privacy policies outside of the control of Abilene Christian University.

Although you may not directly benefit from your participation, your responses may help university instructors better serve their future students.

PRIVACY & CONFIDENTIALITY:

Information collected about you will be handled in a confidential manner in accordance with the law. Some identifiable data may have to be shared with individuals outside of the study team, such as members of the ACU Institutional Review Board. Aside from these required disclosures, your confidentiality will be protected.

This study is confidential. That means that no one outside of the research team, will know that the information you give came from you. Data will be stored on a personally-owned, password-protected laptop computer, but there will be no direct or identifying information relative to each participant.

CONTACTS:

If you have questions about the research study, the Principal Investigator is Carrie and may be contacted at 325-513-6772 or cas20a@acu.edu. You may also contact the thesis chair of this study, Nick Tatum, at 325-674-2292 or nick.tatum@acu.edu. If you have concerns about this study, believe you may have been injured because of this study, or have general questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact ACU's Chair of the Institutional Review Board and Executive Director of Research, Megan Roth, Ph.D. Dr. Roth may be reached at (325) 674-2885

megan.roth@acu.edu

320 Hardin Administration Bldg, ACU Box 29103

Abilene, TX 79699

Your participation in this research is entirely voluntary. You may decline to participate or withdraw from the study at any time and for any reason without any penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

Additional Information:

If you volunteer to take part in this study, you will be one of about 400 people to do so. The research procedures will be conducted via Google Forms, an online survey system. To participate in this study, you will provide basic demographic information and reflect campus experience during your time as a student. Your participation in this research will last about 15 minutes.

If you do not want to be in the study, you are not required in any way to take part in the study.

There are no costs associated with taking part in this study.

You may choose to leave the study at any time. You will not be treated differently if you decide to stop taking part in the study.

If you choose to leave the study early, data collected until that point will remain in the study database and may not be removed.

The investigators conducting the study may need to remove you from the study. This may occur for a number of reasons. You may be removed from the study if you are not able to follow the directions.

Generally, surveys done for research purposes are not meant to provide results that apply to you alone. Thus, you will not be provided with your individual results for this survey.

Your information collected for this study will NOT be used or shared for future research studies, even if we remove the identifiable information like your name, clinical record number, or date of birth.

Consent:

Please click the button below if you voluntarily agree to participate in this study. Click only after you have read all of the information provided and your questions have been answered to your satisfaction. If you wish to have a copy of this consent form, you may print it now. You do not waive any legal rights by consenting to this study.

I voluntarily agree to participate in this study I DO NOT voluntarily agree to participate in this study

APPENDIX D

IRB Survey Items

DEMOGRAPHICS

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. With what gender do you identify?
 - 1. Male
 - 2. Female
 - 3. Other
- 3. Are you a student or instructor?
 - a. Student
 - b. Instructor

STUDENTS ONLY

- 5. What is your classification?
 - a. First year
 - b. Sophomore
 - c. Junior
 - d. Senior
 - e. Graduate
- 6. What is your major? _____

INSTRUCTOR ONLY

- 7. What is your instructor status?
 - a. Adjunct Professor
 - b. Teaching/Graduate Assistant
 - c. Instructor/Lecturer
 - d. Assistant Professor
 - e. Associate Professor
 - f. Full Professor
 - g. Other

9.

- 8. How many years have you been teaching?
 - What kind of institution do you teach at?
 - a. Four year Institution
 - b. Two year Institution (e.g. Community College)
 - c. Other _____

RELATIVE ADVANTAGE

On a scale of (1) Strongly Disagree to (7) Strongly Agree, to what extent do you agree with the following statements regarding **the relative advantage of virtual reality equipment in university classrooms**:

1. Using virtual reality equipment would improve the quality of students' public speaking rehearsals.

2. Using virtual reality equipment would make it easier for students to rehearse public speaking.

3. The disadvantages of a student using virtual reality equipment for public speaking rehearsals far outweigh the advantages.

4. Using virtual reality equipment would improve students' public speaking rehearsals.

5. Overall, students would find using virtual reality equipment to be advantageous for rehearsing public speaking.

6. Using virtual reality equipment would enhance the effectiveness of students' public speaking rehearsals.

7. Using virtual reality equipment would increase students' productivity when rehearsing public speaking.

EASE OF USE

On a scale of (1) Strongly Disagree to (7) Strongly Agree, to what extent do you agree with the following statements regarding **the ease of use of virtual reality equipment in university classrooms**:

1. I believe that virtual reality equipment would be cumbersome for students to use when practicing public speaking.

2. It would be easy for students to remember how to use virtual reality equipment when practicing public speaking.

3. Using virtual reality equipment to practice public speaking would require a lot of mental effort for students.

4. Using virtual reality equipment could be frustrating for students when practicing public speaking.

5. I believe that it would be easy to get virtual reality equipment to do what students want it to do when practicing public speaking.

6. Overall, virtual reality equipment would be easy for students to use when practicing public speaking.

7. Learning to operate virtual reality equipment to practice public speaking would be easy for students.

ATTITUDES TOWARDS VR ADOPTION

On a scale of (1) Strongly Disagree to (7) Strongly Agree, to what extent do you agree with the following statements regarding **the use of virtual reality equipment in university classrooms**:

1. Virtual reality equipment should be adopted for students to use when rehearsing public speaking.

2. I do **NOT** think virtual reality equipment should be adopted for students to practice public speaking.

3. Future public speaking classrooms should use virtual reality equipment to help students practice public speaking.